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INTERVIEW

Q. Ambassador Martindell, would you tell me a little about your early years and
education, where you were born, that type of thing?

MARTINDELL: Should I really admit to where I was born? (Laughter) I’'m Eloise. I'm
not really, but I was born at the Plaza Hotel. [Reference to Eloise, written by Kay
Thompson, Simon and Schuster, 1955.] My father was in law school and the
grandparents did live in New York. It was July-my birthday’s the 18th -- and they said
they were darned if they were going to stay in New York during the hot weather, but they
would endow my parents with a suite at the Plaza because they didn’t have any money --
my father was in law school -- so that’s where I was born.

Q: Well, now, which law school was your father going to?
MARTINDELL: Harvard.

Q: Harvard. He was a judge?



MARTINDELL: Yes, eventually. I mean yes, much later.
Q: Were your parents from New England?

MARTINDELL: No, but we are a political family. That goes back a number of
generations. It’s New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. My father’s family came from
Pennsylvania, and they were Senators, United States Senators. That’s what I really had
hoped I would be. If Millicent Fenwick, who is a friend of mine, hadn’t been running the
year she ran, I would have run. But we were too much alike, and it wouldn’t have
worked.

Q: I see, yes. Now, your maiden name was Clark.
MARTINDELL: Anne Clark, yes.
Q: Was it your grandfather who founded the Clark Thread Company?

MARTINDELL: No, that was way back, 200 years ago. It originated in Scotland, you
see, in Paisley. You know, Paisley shawls and all that.

Q: I didn’t know that.

MARTINDELL: It was a textile manufactory and this particular ancestor was, I think
they call them crofters, little farmers. He would weave in his spare time, and while he
was weaving he invented the spindle.

Q: For heaven’s sake, invented the spindle!

MARTINDELL: That was the first invention and that brought about the big spinning
machine later. My grandfather was the first one to permanently live here. He was sent
over -- it was J. and P. Coates, it is now -- and they amalgamated. They had takeovers. It
was sort of an intermarriage situation, I think; I think that we were related. They sent him
over as a young man of 21, having graduated from the University of Bonn.

Q: Bonn?

MARTINDELL: Yes, that was the fashionable place to go from Scotland. And it was a
very good university. He came with his manservant, who was a fellow named Stains, who
stayed with the family until he died. He was a wonderful man. He lived in Newark, which
is where the mills were, and then later on had a country house in Bernardsville, New
Jersey. I spent a lot of my childhood there. That was my father’s father, and very Scottish
to the day he died. One of my very close friends is Scotty Reston, and one of the things I
love about him is his Scottish accent. He has just a little trace. Reminded me a little bit of
my grandfather. My father’s mother was the daughter of one of the Senators. Cameron,
their name was. My mother’s family was Blair.



Q: Blair. Now, are they the Blairs of Virginia?

MARTINDELL: Many generations back, there were three Blair brothers who came from
Scotland, I think -- it could have been northern Ireland -- and landed in North Carolina.
At least that’s the family mythology. One of them stayed in Virginia\Maryland, Blair
House. One of them went out west, and those are the Chicago Blairs, and then our
antecedents came to northern New Jersey. This wonderful old fellow, my mother’s
grandfather, my great-grandfather, John I. Blair, was the oldest son of a minister who
died when he was 12.They had a farm on the side, and he had to stop school at sixth
grade and work the farm for his mother and younger brothers and sisters. Then he was
apprenticed to a cousin who had a general store, and he started his own general store
when he was 17. There are some wonderful books in various libraries around New Jersey.
He would ride horseback all the way up through the Finger Lakes of New York. People
would trade with him, you know, they’d bring in beaver pelts and things like that so they
could buy their supplies. He’d go all his miles on horseback to collect two dollars, three
dollars. He kept diaries.

Q: How long ago was he?

MARTINDELL: He was born in the early years of the 19th century, and he lived to be --
I think he was born in 1800, as a matter of fact -- and he lived to be 98. He died in 1898
or 1896, in there, and when he died, he was President of 20 railroads.

Q: It’s a real American success story.

MARTINDELL: Part of his trading was with the Astors and the Vanderbilts. They cut
him into the railroads.

Q: The minute you said furs, I thought, perhaps. He traveled in upstate New York.

MARTINDELL: Well, he traveled all over in later years. He kept a diary of inspecting
the railroads as far west as Montana, Dakotas, the Colorado. He was a fabulous fellow.
Somebody said he was going to write a book about him, and I’ve written him to say,
“How’s your book coming?” Because if he doesn’t do something about it, one of us is
going to have to. I mean, he’s part of the -- well, he was at the time of the robber barons,
but he wasn’t a robber baron. He lived in the same farmhouse that he’d always lived in. A
reporter came to interview him -- this was in his obituary -- came in to interview him and
said, “How come, Mr. Blair,” or maybe, “How does it happen, Mr. Blair, that you’re
living in the same house you’ve always lived in, and your son (my great-grandfather) has
just built an enormous mansion on the Delaware?” And he said, “Well, the difference
between me and my son is that my son has a rich father.” (Laughter)

Q: I love that. So he was your great-great-grandfather?

MARTINDELL: On my mother’s side.



Q: So you come from illustrious people on both sides.

MARTINDELL: Well, from interesting people.

Q: Interesting people, but they 're illustrious, because they built the nation, didn’t they?
MARTINDELL: They did; they were in there.

Q: Absolutely! So your mother was a Blair and your father was a Clark and you were
born in the Plaza Hotel. Was your mother the typical early 20th century woman who
stayed at home and ran the household?

MARTINDELL: She was, but what a pity. I still have an aunt who’s 87 who’s alive -- her
younger sister. Either one of them could have run General Motors. My mother’s happiest
years were when she was, I think, the second or third in the American Red Cross during
the war, down there in Washington, with hundreds of people working for her. Now, it
didn’t pay anything; she did it as a volunteer, but she was real executive.

Q: Tremendous managerial ability?

MARTINDELL: Tremendous managerial ability -- much more than I have. I’'m better
with people than she was, but she was terrific. But it wasn’t in their ethic. Women didn’t
work, unless they had to. And they didn’t have to.

Q: And if they did they were looked down on, weren’t they?

MARTINDELL: My mother was a bit of a feminist. She was always -- she had a lot of
friends who were Suffragettes and she sort of helped. I got that from her. I’'m not a
militant feminist, but [ am pro-feminism.

Q: Did she ever march and that sort of thing?

MARTINDELL: I think she did. I think, when I was very little she would go out with her
friends. But she wasn’t a leader in it.

Q: She never -- she wasn’t one of the Bloomer Girls? That was much earlier anyway.

MARTINDELL: She was born in 1890-something. Anyway, because of my father, she
did get into politics, and one of my very early memories is crawling under a tea table with
a big cloth, you know? She was entertaining -- I think my father was running for bar or
council or something -- entertaining the ladies of the village of Bernardsville. She made a
little speech. I was terribly impressed.

Q: It wasn’t Mamma’s usual picture! You lived in Bernardsville, did you?

MARTINDELL: In the summers.



Q: Where did you live in the winter?

MARTINDELL: In the winters we were in New York until I was nine, and then we
moved here. Then my father had been appointed at that point. He was the youngest judge,
I think, ever appointed to this state court, which doesn’t exist anymore, in Trenton. And
this was the logical place to go. Then he was appointed to the Federal bench, and that was
in Newark and he had to commute. The schools were better here. In those days
Bernardsville was a very remote little village.

Q: Did you have siblings?

MARTINDELL: Yes. I have two brothers.

Q: And where do you fit into the family?

MARTINDELL: I’'m the eldest. We’re all very close of an age, all within three years.
Q: Were you close as children?

MARTINDELL: Yes, my brothers used to pick on me.

Q: Well, naturally. Did you use to fight a lot?

MARTINDELL: I fought a lot with my youngest brother, then we became very close and
stayed that way. And my next brother, who I now see a lot of, sort of dropped out of the
family, in a way. Now we’re traveling together, because he’s a widower and he likes it
and I do. It’s great fun.

Q: How nice. Well, now, when you were a little child, did you play with your brothers?
MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: So you played boys’ games?

MARTINDELL: Yes, sure, [ was a tomboy.

Q: You were a tomboy? (Laughter) Well, that’s good training, isn't it, for bustling your
way ahead? Now, you have said that your father went into politics. He graduated from
Harvard Law School.

MARTINDELL: Harvard and Harvard Law. He wrote absolutely beautifully. His
opinions are still considered models. His most famous case was declaring that the
Volstead Act was unconstitutional. I was off at boarding school at this point. I’d read the

New York Times at home, but we weren’t allowed to have it. The headmistress, who was
a real tartar, would put up the front page, and there was my father, right column, front




page. You know, the first column. And then no second page, so I couldn’t finish the
article. She said, “It’s not suitable for young women.”

Q: Because, of course, she was very much for Prohibition, I suppose.
MARTINDELL: Probably, yes, probably.

Q: Well, then, you come from a family not only of doers and movers and achievers, but
also of people who are liberal in their thinking?

MARTINDELL: Yes. My father was always a Republican, but he was a liberal
Republican. My mother changed. See, the ancestors that were involved in politics -- this
one ran for Governor and lost in New Jersey. His contemporary, the Cameron, was also
Senator, and he was a political boss. He was the first political boss in this country.

Q: This is this Senator Cameron, your grandfather?

MARTINDELL: Yes, great-great. And he was a model for better or worse for people like
Haig and Daley. All those people, in retrospect -- [ used to think they were monsters -- in
retrospect, I think we’ve let a lot go. We’ve thrown the baby out with the bath water. My
youngest son, the one who’s going into politics, is a Committeeman now, and in going
around to ask people if they’d vote for him, he found a lot of those things that people
wanted to know: “Would you find out?” That’s the kind of thing we used to do and most
Committee people don’t do anymore.

Q: What they called “ward heelers,” I think.

MARTINDELL: Yes, they would do favors for people, even help them. “How do I fill
out this form?” “Did I get the -- “ One question he was telling me about: this woman said,
“I didn’t get my homeowner’s; my neighbor did. What do I do?” That kind of thing. It’s
not corruption. It’s being helpful to neighbors.

Q: Isn’t that the sort of thing that Tip O’ Neill is said to do up there in Massachusetts?

MARTINDELL: That’s right, that’s right.
Q: And that’s why he is so popular.

MARTINDELL: That’s why he is so popular. Anyway, Cameron started this, and then he
and John 1. Blair -- one from New Jersey and one from Pennsylvania -- headed their
delegations to the 1860 convention that nominated Lincoln. They both wrote accounts of
it. Then Cameron put Lincoln over the top, so as a result of that he was his first Secretary
of War. He is not written up very favorably in the history books. Lincoln resented the fact
that he’d been indebted to him and he said very disagreeable things about him. He said
that “he would steal anything except a red-hot stove and he’d take that if it wasn’t bolted
down.” (Laughter) The family story is that he was told to, as Secretary of War, no holds



barred, get everything that’s necessary to arm the Army and do it fast. Well, that costs
money. And they claim that he’d stolen it. He never was all that rich, so I don’t think he
did steal it. The history books say he did.

Q: Oh, that’s terrible.

MARTINDELL: Anyway, he and John I. Blair were both very instrumental in helping
Lincoln and they were, therefore, founders of the Republican Party. So everybody stayed
Republican until my mother switched, and then my brothers and I were all Democrats.
Q: Well, now, why did your mother switch?

MARTINDELL: She adored Roosevelt.

Q: Aha! Mother switched for Roosevelt. Were you very close to your mother?

MARTINDELL: Yes and no. I mean, you have rebellious moments, but yes, we, you
now, talked a lot.

Q. How about your father? Were you close to your father?
MARTINDELL: Not very. He wasn’t close to anybody.

Q: Was it because he was too busy or was he just that temperament, that sort of Scottish
W ?

MARTINDELL: A little of both. Scottish. That’s an interesting comment, because my
brother, whom he was very hard on, the next one to me, said that he had heard from
Scottish friends that it’s a tradition that Scottish fathers are very hard on their children.
Q: Yes, yes.

MARTINDELL: I never knew that. He was very hard.

Q: Well, I was thinking of James Barrie and what growing up he had.

MARTINDELL: Yes, that’s true. Anyway, he was very -- he was hard on us and he was
busy, so he didn’t see much of us. He didn’t have relaxed time for us.

Q: Were they close of an age, your parents, or was he quite a bit older, perhaps, than
your mother?

MARTINDELL: No, they were very close in age, a couple of years apart.

Q: So, Mother was -- you would say she had a decided influence on your thinking? You
were the only daughter, of course.



MARTINDELL: I was the only daughter. Yes, I would say it’s true. Yes.

Q: And Daddy, of course, is always off somewhere.

MARTINDELL: But admired, although feared.

Q. Admired and feared. Yes. And how about Mother? Admired, or?

MARTINDELL: Admired, to a lesser extent. She was an overprotective mother, but she
was quite a disciplinarian, so we were scared of her but, you know, she’d have her warm

moments, too. And she was around. We saw her.

Q: And, of course, familiarity does breed a bit of contempt, doesn 't it, because, you know, there’s
Mama and we’ll just wear her down. (Laughter)

MARTINDELL: That’s right. And then she’d cry. When we got older, if she didn’t get
her way, she’d cry. That really was frustrating. (Phone rings)

Q: What about your early schooling? What kind of schools did you go to?
MARTINDELL: I was a Montessori child, one of the very early ones. I went to a school that
still exists in New York -- [ don’t know what it’s like anymore -- called the Lenox School. It
was just the time that Mme. Montessori was beginning, herself, and she came to this
country and organized a few schools and that was one of them. Then we moved here and I
went to what was then called Miss Fine’s. It’s now called Princeton Day School.

Q: Miss Fine’s. Was that just for little girls?

MARTINDELL: They had boys up to the fifth grade, through the fifth grade.

Q: How many grades did Miss Fine’s go to?

MARTINDELL: It went to high school, and I wanted to stay at home. I did not want to
go to boarding school, but my mother, being very Victorian, had a notion that girls should
not stay around the (Princeton) University. A few of my contemporaries started being
asked out the minute that happened. I was very shy; it would have done me a world of
good. But she was going to take me off and put me in a cloister, which she did.

Q: Where did she send you?

MARTINDELL: St. Timothy’s. She had been there, too.

Q: Where is St. Timothy’s?

MARTINDELL: It’s now in Stevenson. It was at that point at Catonsville, Maryland.



Q: Oh. Now, ifit’s St. Timothy'’s, does that mean it’s an Episcopal school?
MARTINDELL: Episcopal school, and run like a convent.

Q: Really?

MARTINDELL: Oh, my word, we went to church three times a day. We weren’t allowed
to read anything on Sunday except the Bible. And we’d intersperse with hymns.
(Laughter) I’'m surprised I ever go to church anymore.

Q: You were raised in the Episcopal church?

MARTINDELL: I was really raised as a Presbyterian with my Scottish forbears, but
when I went to St. Timothy’s, then I was confirmed.

Q: After you finished from St. Timothy’s -- that would be high school -- you then went to-
MARTINDELL: Then I went to Smith, which my parents thought rather peculiar.

Q: Why did they think it was peculiar?

MARTINDELL: Well, not an awful lot of women went to college in those days.

Q: Oh, I see: because you wanted to go at all?

MARTINDELL: Yes. No, no, they didn’t mind Smith, but they just thought it was
peculiar. I loved Smith. My mother, with her traditions and Victorianism, said that I had
to -- I was too much of a blue stocking -- I had to come back to New York and “come
out.” I was having a wonderful time at Smith, much more wonderful than I had --

Q. Now, you were a good student, obviously.

MARTINDELL: Yes, it came easily, and I liked it. I had, which I don’t have anymore,
absolute total recall. I could -- I was once accused of cheating because I quoted five
pages of my history book. You know, it was a photographic memory. I wish I had it now.
And so I loved it. I said, “Why can’t I come home holidays and go to parties?”” And she
said, “Oh, you’re too delicate.” I was as strong as an ox. And having gotten out of step,
you see, then it was hard to go back, and I got engaged, as much as anything, I think,
because I wanted something to do that was interesting.

Q: Did you have a coming-out party, the usual debut?

MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: Was that about 18 years old?

10



MARTINDELL: I was actually 19.
Q: Where was your debut?
MARTINDELL: In New York, at the Ritz Carlton.

Q: That was what Mother really wanted for you? She wanted you to have that sort of
Victorian — Edwardian --

MARTINDELL: Well, it’s like one of my friend’s friends -- [ went to a wedding, my
college roommate’s daughter -- and one of her friends flew in from Minneapolis and said,
“You know, my father used to say that ‘weddings are women’s football.”* Coming-out
parties, the same thing; it’s the same category. She enjoyed it much more than I did.
(Laughter)

Q: Well now, can you tell me why you wanted to go to a college?

MARTINDELL: My friends were going. We had a little group of six of us who decided
we were going, and we were all going to Smith. The leader of the group is still a very
good friend of mine and she had an aunt near there. [ mean, it was that kind of a decision.

Q: It was that kind of a decision, sure. Well, it’s as good a reason as any. What were you
planning to study or do with your life?

MARTINDELL: I had some vague thoughts of becoming a lawyer, and I don’t think
there were very many. That was because of my father. And then my best friend here,
whose father was also a judge, had the same ambition. We used to talk about it. She got
further along. She did graduate from college before she married. I don’t remember
whether she went to law school or not. Anyway, I had it vaguely in the back of my mind,
but what I was going to major in was either history or government.

Q: Those were your preferred subjects, history and government?

MARTINDELL: English I liked, too. But if I did, and I’m still thinking about it, if I can
work out a deal with Smith and they give me enough credit for what I’ve done in my life,
I would major in history now. I would never, any more, in English.

Q: You could certainly contribute to the government part, couldn’t you?
MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: That would be fine.

MARTINDELL: I mean, at 72 and still talking.

11



Q: Why not! Why not! Nowadays, thank goodness, there aren’t any time limits, the way
there used to be. Were you an early reader?

MARTINDELL: Yes. Indeed I was. And I can remember exactly when I first read. We
had a wonderful Irish nanny, whom I absolutely adored, and I remember -- she was
looking after one of the younger brothers, I don’t remember which. I was playing on the
floor with blocks that had letters on them. And then -- I tell the story that it was G-O-D,
but I think it was D-O-G -- and I saw it was a word. She said to me, “Now, what does that
say, Anne?” And I suddenly realized it was a word. I was barely four. I went right on
from there. I was punished by my mother for reading, because I would get up -- she was
old-fashioned, she wanted us to take naps for our delicate health -- and I would get out of
bed and get a book, and then she’d come in and catch me and spank me.

Q: Can you remember your first book?
MARTINDELL: No. It may come back to me.

Q: Was it Three Little Kittens or something like that?

MARTINDELL: I suppose it must have been. Oh yes, all that kind, yes.

Q: Your mother seems to have this idea she wanted delicate little lady-like daughters and

MARTINDELL: She did, and I wasn’t. (Laughter) Although at the end she was terribly
proud of me.

Q: Well, of course she was.

MARTINDELL: I mean, she lived the last three years of her life -- [ was then elected to
the Senate here in New Jersey -- and she lived at a retirement home near here, and she
used to have a woman come over and do her checkbook and things like that, every so
often, and they’d go down the hall for lunch, and this woman told me, after she died, that
she’d wait until somebody was within earshot and then she’d say, “My daughter, the
Senator, says. . .”

Q: Oh, how sweet.

MARTINDELL: Wasn’t that sweet? Yes. (Laughter) One of the most touching moments
of my life is when I was sworn in and she held the Bible, tears running down her face.

Q: Oh, yes. Isn’t it lovely, though, to know that you were able to give your mother that
wonderful experience?

MARTINDELL: Yes, yes.

12



Q: Of course, the very fact that she punished you for reading probably made it all the
more desirable?

MARTINDELL: I never thought of that. I’'m sure you’re right. Sure you’re right.
(Laughter)

Q: Anyway, you were an early reader and you liked -- can you remember any of your
early books?

MARTINDELL: Well, a series that she loved was called The Little Colonel. They were
her books. I have, unfortunately not here, but I have all the books that we had as children.
She used to read aloud to us. That was another marvelous thing. She used to read
Dickens, which is tough going. But she used to read them. She read The Old Curiosity
Shop. I remember it well. And David Copperfield. She loved Dickens.

Q: Did you weep at David Copperfield?

MARTINDELL: Oh, yes, oh, yes.
Q: It’s a terrible thing, isn’t it? Heart-rending. (Laughter)

MARTINDELL: I have all this collection of children’s books. I have a house up in the
Adirondacks and that’s where they are.

Q: Where in the Adirondacks?

MARTINDELL: In Keene Valley, if you know where that is, south of Lake Placid.
Actually, it’s Keene. It’s the unsocial end of the valley as I’ve told the reporters.
(Laughter)

Q: Beautiful countryside.

MARTINDELL: Absolutely. Up there I have a brook, practically into the house; it’s a big
brook, too, and then it gets extended; goes on to the Ausable River, which bounds the end
of the property.

Q: Do you like outdoor sports?

MARTINDELL: I love it. [ used to be a very good downhill skier. Now, with a bad knee
and ankle, I can only do cross-country, but I love it, and I still do it.

Q: What about horseback riding?
MARTINDELL: I was always a little scared of horses. I rode. In fact, I even went fox

hunting when I lived over near Bernardsville, in Peapack. When I was first married, my
husband was a mad horseman.
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Q: What other sports did you participate in?

MARTINDELL: Tennis. Golf. I still play golf. Tennis is too hard on my legs. Swimming
is my favorite.

Q: What about boating?
MARTINDELL: No, never. We always went to the mountains when we were little. My
youngest brother got polio and the doctor said, “You live at sea level; be sure you don’t

live all year at sea level.”

Q: This business that your mother had of making you all take naps and so forth, did any
of that stem from the fact that your brother had polio?

MARTINDELL: Might have. Might have.

Q: Because you don’t remember it before his polio?

MARTINDELL: No, no, we always had -- it was an old-fashioned thing. I think actually
it’s something that they’ve thrown out, again the baby with the bath water, because none
of my grandchildren ever take naps and I think they’d be better off for it.

Q: So your brother had polio. Did that leave him with any --

MARTINDELL: Yes, he’s quite lame.

Q: So that your mother, who seems to be a very conscientious person, was terribly upset
about this, naturally.

MARTINDELL: She was. Oh, yes, it was a very tough couple of years. He was in the
hospital up in Boston: Mass. General.

Q: Can you remember how old you were?

MARTINDELL: Yes, I can remember exactly -- [ was nine. He was six. They say you all
have it in a family when one child has it, but if we had it, it was like flu and it went away.

Q: How long was he in Mass. General?

MARTINDELL: A month. And then had to go back every year for another operation. It
was really rough. Then he had to wear braces.

Q: It was a typical real bad polio case.

MARTINDELL: Yes, it really was bad. I mean, he was lucky he survived.
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Q: Is he the baby brother?

MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: You said your parents thought it was strange that you wanted to go to college, but off
you went, and enjoyed it, loved it, loved your courses, and I suppose the whole
atmosphere?

MARTINDELL: It was freedom. I’d been restricted because my mother was so old-
fashioned and so severe about -- you know, allowed us much less freedom. Nobody was
allowed much in those days, but I was less than most, and so for the first time [ was on
my own.

Q: Now, did you meet your husband up there in Massachusetts?

MARTINDELL: No. I met him where we went in the summer, which is Hot Springs,
Virginia. He was from a Virginia family.

Q: Was it because of your brother you went to Hot Springs?
MARTINDELL: Yes.
Q: So it did have quite an effect on the family?

MARTINDELL: Yes, it did. My mother was very anxious, and I’m sure it increased her
anxiety about everything. That was why she was so strict; she was so anxious.

Q: I gather she had the raising of these children pretty much by herself?
MARTINDELL: Oh, yes, absolutely. No question about it.
Q: Of course, children can’t understand that. But you were thinking of being a lawyer,

and then you met this man, and I suppose it was the usual coup de foudre that you have
when you’re 19 or so.

MARTINDELL: And so often you’re silly and you’re in love with love.

Q: Of course.

MARTINDELL: And my parents thought he was marvelous. He was a very sweet man,
but he was not very bright. We were divorced much later. I think in part that was
rebellion on my part against my parents. You know, they really forced me into it, in all

the ways parents can without even realizing they’re doing it.

Q: And he came from a proper family.
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MARTINDELL: He came from an old FFV (First Families of Virginia). My father
thought that was wonderful. He’d been in Fort Lee during the war, during World War I,
and he was very impressed with the Virginia family. Well, he was very handsome, I must
say, and very sweet, but we had nothing to talk about.

Q: And you were not old enough, mature enough, to realize that this --

MARTINDELL: At the very last minute I got panicked and I didn’t want to do it. It was
about six weeks before the wedding, and I said to my mother, “I just don’t think I can do
it.” She said “All girls go through this.” Which is somewhat true. “And I’ve sent out the
invitations and -- so you have to go through with it.” I was obliged to.

Q: You were 19? How old was your husband? He was a young man, too?
MARTINDELL: He was older. He was 25. He was an old man to me. (Laughter)
Q. Good heavens, yes. (Laughter) And had been in uniform in the war?

MARTINDELL: No. He went to war later. He went in World War II, and had a very
rough war. He came back an alcoholic. That’s what happened.

Q: Did he? Oh, dear.

MARTINDELL: I should have been more understanding, but [ wasn’t, and I was
rebelling.

Q: Yes. So where did you and your husband go to live?

MARTINDELL: Well, we first -- he came up first from Virginia, wanted to get away
from a very over-possessive mother -- and he came and worked in New York and then we
lived in Peapack, which is right near Bernardsville. It’s lovely, western New Jersey, and
he was a fox hunter and he loved it there.

Q: He was an only child, was he?

MARTINDELL: No, he had a sister. But he was THE, as a boy is for southern mothers.
Q: I can imagine.

MARTINDELL: And then he went off to World War II. The first thing I had ever done,
outside of study, was, four girls got together and we got a little place -- we all liked to ski
-- a little place up in the Laurentians. We ran it as a hotel. Small. Well, it was bigger than

a guesthouse. It was -- we took 60 people.

Q: Did you? When was this, now?
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MARTINDELL: This was in 19 -- all of our husbands were overseas -- 1942. We all had
small children so we didn’t want to go to an office, and we could have them around. Two
of us ran it. We could have the children around us, and still have something to do.

Q: How wonderful. What a good idea. Could I have your husband’s name, please?
MARTINDELL: George Scott. George Cole Scott.

Q: George C. Scott. Isn’t that interesting?

MARTINDELL: Yes. He was as good looking as the movie actor.

Q: Was he? Now, you mentioned little children. Do you want to tell me a little about
that?

MARTINDELL: Yes. I had three Scott children, a girl and two boys, and then when I
remarried after the war, I had one. That’s the younger one, who is so interested in
politics. That’s a boy. A young man now. My older son is a little bit interested in politics
and would be very good at it, too. Marvelous looking. He looks like his father but has a
stronger face. But he has to make a living for a wife and three children and it costs money
to get into politics, more and more, all the time.

Q: That’s the trouble. Now, all your family are Democrats, is that correct?
MARTINDELL: Yes. Roger stuck with it. It’s not the best thing to be in New Jersey right
now, but because everybody knows he’s my son, he can’t change. He is -- they’re all
more conservative than I am. That’s the trend. But they’re not very conservative. No, my
daughter isn’t -- she’s as liberal as [ am. I’m not even sure I’m as liberal as I used to be.
Q: Your daughter, is she your oldest child?

MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: Are you close to her?

MARTINDELL: Yes. She lives in Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Q: Oh, she does? Connected with the university?

MARTINDELL: Yes, through her husband. His field is Iran, if you can imagine anything
worse. He just nearly died. Well, he nearly died, period. He’s got pancreatic cancer. He’s

doing all right, but keeps his fingers crossed.

Q: So I suppose he teaches Mideast history or something?
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MARTINDELL: Yes. Literature, Persian literature, history. His field is actually the
Middle Ages, 13th century.

Q: Boy, that is arcane, isn’t it?

MARTINDELL: Yes. (Laughter) It is.

Q: Middle Ages, Persian literature.

MARTINDELL: Well, history of literature and language. He’s a linguist.

Q: Is he? That would be Farsi, I suppose?

MARTINDELL: Yes. One of the things I most regret is they wanted to -- I did go once
when they were over there, when he was on one of those study tours -- but they went
back again during one of his sabbatical years and they wanted me to join them, and I was

involved with something then, I thought, “I can always go.” So dumb.

Q: We don’t always realize. Now you have mentioned that during the war, you went up to
the Laurentians and had this-

MARTINDELL: Yes. That was my first, you see, business experience.

Q: On your own. What sort of a -- was this so people could ski, or-

MARTINDELL: Yes. We should never have let it go. We just barely broke even, which
you don’t usually do for five years in that sort of an enterprise. We should have held on,
or at least we should have held on to the land because it’s immensely valuable now. It’s
45 miles from Montreal with a big highway going. You get there in 45 minutes.

Q: How long did you have this, Ambassador?

MARTINDELL: Well, my husband took it over after we split up.

Q: I see.

MARTINDELL: And he kept it. I was there from ‘42 to ‘48, and then he kept it a few
more years and then he sold it.

Q: But you effectively were out of it in 1948?
MARTINDELL: I was out of it in ‘48, yes.
Q. Now, whatever gave you an idea to do this?

MARTINDELL: We loved skiing, and it came on the market. For $40,000, 550 acres!
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Q: How many people -- you said 60 people you could take care of?
MARTINDELL: Yes.
Q: My goodness. That'’s quite a lot for two young women.

MARTINDELL: Well, it wasn’t easy, but it was fun. We used to get -- we used to charge
top rates, which were nothing compared to what they charge now. And the people in
these top rate-rooms -- a pump, which was down about at the foot of the mountain, broke
down, which it did all the time, you couldn’t buy a new one -- the customers spent the
day fixing the pump. (Laughter) Nothing like being helpless.

Q: The water pump, this was?
MARTINDELL: Yes. All our water -- in a well at the bottom!

Q: Did you have much other impact from the war? Your husband was away all this time,
and you were with the children?

MARTINDELL: He was away three years, yes.
Q: Did it affect you, yourself, personally, a great deal?

MARTINDELL: I was terribly depressed at first. And that’s why I had to -- my way of
coping with problems is to get busy. And so, first I worked as a nurse’s aide here in the
hospital, and then I went on a skiing vacation. They all became enthralled with the area,
and so then we went off.

Q. And how many were you in this project?

MARTINDELL: There were four of us who invested the large sum of $10,000 each, but
two of us ran it. | had the day shift and the other girl, who was an old friend from school,
ran the night shift.

Q: I'would say you probably got the lion’s share of the work if you had the days.

MARTINDELL: Well, I did the organizing, the hiring of the staff, and she had to tend the
guests.

Q: Were you surprised at yourself, that you were able to do this?
MARTINDELL: It was wonderful training, let me tell you, for politics. You had to stand
there at the desk, which I would do because I was on my morning shift, and they’d come

in cranky and tired and they wouldn’t like their room, and I had to learn to be a diplomat.
I’d move them to a similar room, but as long as I moved them it was all right.
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Q: Sure, it’s the appearance of whatever it is.

MARTINDELL: Yes, that’s right. It really taught me a lot about people. Up to that time
I’d been quite shy, and that knocked all the shyness out of me. I was what -- 28, about?
Twenty-seven, 28.

Q: How did you feel about yourself at that time?

MARTINDELL: That’s a good question. I never had enough self-confidence until my
later years.

Q: Really?

MARTINDELL: But having coped with that helped. The thing that did the most for me,
though, I have to say, was my second job, and there was a long interval in between, and a
lot of volunteer work. My youngest went to a little school here that now is folded up.
Well, it’s got a success or, but the woman who started it is out of it. She became a friend
because this little boy was the brightest of my children -- well, my daughter’s very bright,
too. Well, they’re all pretty bright, so I shouldn’t say that about him, but he was one of
those extraordinary children -- I’ve got one grandchild like that who’s very like him --
immediately teachers, you know, see some potential in him. He was out of there and in
high school, and she invited me over to tea and said she wanted to tell me about a good
thing. She knew my older son has reading dyslexia quite badly.

O: Oh, did he?

MARTINDELL.: I think to some extent it may have run in my father’s family but they
somehow got over it, but he didn’t.

Q: Oh. I suppose there are degrees of it, too?

MARTINDELL: Yes, degrees. She knew I was interested in reading problems and she
discovered this system in England which was -- we have 44 sounds in the English
language and only 26 letters, which is why it’s so hard for people to learn. This coped
with that by having the extra letters, but it wasn’t too different. She went on and on about
this. I thought it was interesting, but not as interesting as an hour and a half. It ended up
when she got all through this, she said -- and I was wondering why on earth she would
tell me all this, she said, “I’'m going to start up this school” -- this was August -- “next
month, and you are going to teach it.” And I said, “Mary, I have no training; I didn’t even
graduate from college.” And she said, “That’s exactly why I want you. You have no
prejudices. To some extent you’ll be learning on the job, but that’s all right. I’'ve done
this before.” And that gave me absolute self-confidence.

Q: Well, isn’t that great!
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MARTINDELL: I had no training. I’'m going to write an article about this sooner or later.
No training and no experience. I plunged in, and succeeded, and I ended up by teaching
other teachers. Once having done that, I never hesitated after that to take on anything. I
never would have run for office if I hadn’t done that.

Q: What sort of a time frame are we talking about now?
MARTINDELL: Well, that was -- let’s see, early sixties. Sixty-three. Roger was 13. He
was born in 1950. The hotel had helped. It had increased my self-confidence as far as

dealing with people was concerned.

Q: Did you feel a deprivation or, I should say, a feeling of insecurity because you didn’t
finish college? You've mentioned that a couple of times now.

MARTINDELL: No, I think it was more because -- I don’t know. My mother was very
shy. My father was very self-confident, very good with people, very outgoing, very
funny. It didn’t seem possible for my mother or, in my mind, for me to be as well-liked
and all that. It was more sort of a social lack of self-confidence.

Q: You didn’t feel inferior -- insecure -- because you didn’t finish college?
MARTINDELL: Not really, no. I wished I had.

Q: Sure. But it wasn’t anything -- no cloud over your life type of thing?

MARTINDELL: No. It’s just been an objective; it’s unfinished business, which is why I
want to go back to it.

Q: And also perhaps a thing that you've had to catch up?

MARTINDELL: Yes. I realize the gaps, not having had all that. I mean, I made up a lot
of the gaps by reading and talking to people, but there’s still gaps.

Q: How do you feel about your children’s education? You wanted to make sure they all
went to college?

MARTINDELL: Well, it was in their culture. Everybody went.
Q: You didn’t have to push?

MARTINDELL: They pushed themselves. In fact, the one who is dyslexic is a real
scholar.

[Side 1 of Tape 1 ends. Side 2 begins in mid-conversation. ]

MARTINDELL.:... Which I shouldn’t have done, in retrospect. He went out west and then
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he did drop out, and then he went in the Coast Guard for four years. His entire college
career spanned twelve years, but he graduated, from the University of Washington, which
really took immense determination.

Q: Good for him. I should think it must have.

MARTINDELL: But the others, you know, everybody was going to college; it was
unthinkable for them not to.

Q: Yes. How it did change in that one generation. Well, we 're up to 1948 now, and you
are coming back to this area?

MARTINDELL: I came back to Princeton when I remarried. Lived in the house I was
brought up in, and then Roger was born.

Q: You met your husband up in Canada, did you? Or was he somebody you’d known
before?

MARTINDELL: I met him -- he actually lived in Bernardsville. I met him through
friends over there.

Q: Oh. He is from the United States?
MARTINDELL: Oh, yes, yes.
Q: What sort of work did your first husband do?

MARTINDELL: My first husband started out in the brokerage business which his father
had been in, and his family. My father disapproved of stockbrokers; he thought they were
terrible people. I think he’d lost some money. (Laughter) So he talked him out of that,
and he worked for my uncle at the Clark Thread Company, and he did that both before he
went to war and then after he came back. Then after we were divorced, after a while, he
went back to Richmond, where he’d come from, and started a business there.

Q: And your second husband?

MARTINDELL: My second husband was an investment counselor, and then he started
something called the American Institute of Management, which has since been sold, and
then he bought “Who’s Who.” Then sold it to ITT after he’d had it about 10 years, I
guess, something like that. Yes.

Q: Now, he was the American-

MARTINDELL: Institute of Management. He became interested in management through

having studied companies and what makes one company better than the other. In fact, he
invented a term that’s now quite generally used, called “the management audit.” He
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suggested I do one at the State Department. I did a couple of things for him.
Q: What was his first name?
MARTINDELL: Jackson Martindell.

Q: And while we're at it, I don’t have your father’s first name or your mother’s first
name.

MARTINDELL: William is my father; no middle name, and my mother was Marjory
Blair Clark.

Q: And just so we can refer to them later, what are the names of your children?

MARTINDELL: Marjory, named for my mother; George, named for his father; David,
and Roger. David and Roger live here.

Q: Are they all married?
MARTINDELL: No, Roger isn’t but he’s about to be.
Q: So you have grandchildren?

MARTINDELL: I have six. My daughter has three, in Michigan, and George has three, in
Richmond. I’ve a granddaughter about to get married this fall.

Q: Aren’t they wonderful, grandchildren?

MARTINDELL: Oh, I adore them. I have four girls and two boys and I never had any
here, so Roger is living here -- ’'m crazy about the girl he’s going to marry sometime in
the next few months. They haven’t set a date yet.

Q: You say your last two live here? David is married but no children?

MARTINDELL: No children. His wife has a health problem so she can’t have them. It’s
sad. But Roger and Jennifer are talking about babies, so maybe I’ll have some here.

Q: You'd better be careful of that ankle so that you’ll be in good shape. (Laughter)
MARTINDELL: You’re right.

Q. Now, between the time that you married for the second time, during the 1950s, what
was your principal occupation?

MARTINDELL:: Well, I was active in a lot of community things. Princeton’s very
community-minded. League of Women Voters, that was my first. I should have gotten
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into politics years ago, but I didn’t except the League, which was good training. I worked
for something, it was a state institution for people with mental problems. The New Jersey
Neuro-Psychiatric Institute. I was President of what one would call an Auxiliary, but it
wasn’t called that; Association.

Q. Now, was this because your son had this problem of dyslexia? Is that what got you
interested in neurological things?

MARTINDELL: I was quite interested in psychological things; I just think that’s part of
it. Also, my friends were interested.

Q: I see. I know that you were responsible for some legislation that had to do with
helping people to get back into the mainstream.

MARTINDELL: Yes. That was because of the Neuro-Psychiatric Institute.

Q: The modification program, yes, that came out of that. It’s very interesting to see the
way these threads develop, isn’t it?

MARTINDELL: Yes, that’s right. I had, you know, a fair amount of experience and
knowledge, and so I got into the thing. Women now tend to get into things that are not in
their usual area. And I was advised not to, but what the hell. And was advised to get into
things like transportation and budgetary matters. I’'m very bad at figures -- and
computations. I was fine in algebra and physics and that sort of thing, but computations!
A friend of mine who went to Miss Fine’s School said, “Don’t you realize I’ve always
had the same trouble? That Miss Fine said no, that you had a very poor mathematics
teacher.” I have a great deal of trouble with adding and subtracting. And I look at a
balance sheet, and I have to do this. And I know how George feels with reading. It
swims. It’s panic, but it swims. And that’s simply because I was badly taught. I don’t
think I have a real problem.

Q: Badly taught, and also it was the folklore that girls aren’t any good at this. Which is a
lot of nonsense, because girls are just as good as boys.

MARTINDELL: Yes, that’s right. Well, my daughter’s very good at it. I mean,
instinctively so. But I am not. I think I would have never been terribly good, but I just

have a hang-up. I have a hang-up.

Q: Well, and before you ever started you were told you weren’t going to be any good,
probably.

MARTINDELL: That’s right, that’s right.
Q: Isn’t it awful the way we shape our children? (Laughter)

MARTINDELL: A real handicap.
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Q: Of course it is.

MARTINDELL: And I panic when I’m trying to balance my checkbooks. I don’t do it
anymore. | hire somebody to do it.

Q: Yes, yes. Well, you must be pleased, though, with these little calculators that --

MARTINDELL: Manual dyslexia is not good on that. I hit the wrong key. So I get so
frustrated. I haven’t gotten a computer and I really am going to make myself do that.
Because I'm so afraid, I’'m going to take a course. I’ll probably do badly, but I’'m going to
learn it. All my grandchildren can do it like that! (snaps fingers)

Q: I know, I know. They understand what’s behind the mathematical combinations and so
forth. When you were in school, did you have any teachers who were particularly role
models for you? We’ve already agreed that your mother was, to a certain extent.

MARTINDELL: Yes, yes, she was. Well, I had a wonderful fourth grade teacher, which
is the first year I moved here. And it’s a funny thing, I didn’t recognize her. We were
both at a League of Women Voters’ meeting, I think, and I heard Mrs. Brown’s voice.
She didn’t look a bit like I remembered her. But I had a wonderful teacher in the Lenox
School, who was a French teacher. She spent one summer in between the two years I was
there. Mademoiselle Figuet. She even lived long enough, well into her nineties, so that
she knew my children and my grandchildren. For years I didn’t see her, and the Keene
Valley: she used to send me postcards, because she said she thought I was somewhat of a
neglected child, and when I got up there -- oh, I hadn’t seen her for years -- I realized that
was where it was. It was familiar. And I ran into her again.

Q: Figuet, did you say?

MARTINDELL: F-I-G-U-E-T. I saw a lot of her. She said, “I don’t know why you’re so
nice to me, an old lady like me,” and I said, “Because you were nice to me when I needed
it.”

Q: Isn’t that lovely. Now, did she think that you were a so-called neglected child because
of your brother’s health problems?

MARTINDELL: I think that was part of it. That nanny I told you about, my mother fired
her when I was four, and I remember -- she was our substitute mother. She was of the
warm -- even my mother said she was a saint-but I don’t know why she fired her. I think
maybe she was a little jealous because we adored her so. She never admitted that. But she
said to me, at the age of four, “She’s so untidy.” And I’m not very tidy, and I think that I
-- it was an unconscious wish to be like the adored nanny. I felt like I’d lost my mother.

Q: Did you really?
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MARTINDELL: Yes. It was a terrible blow to me. And I think the difficulties I had with
my mother later, which weren’t serious -- but we’d grate on each other a bit -- and I think
that was it, that I felt that she had removed the woman who I loved the most in the world.
I never saw her again.

Q: Never saw her again?

MARTINDELL: No. She just dropped out of sight. I don’t know where she went. It must
have been hard on her, too, because anybody that loving must have loved us.

Q: Yes, yes. And to have three little babies -- Then in the 19 -- we re taking your time
now as far as the League of Women Voters, and the --

MARTINDELL: And the neuro-psychiatric and that kind of thing. And then -- I forget, I
had to make a speech as President of the Association. Absolutely -- my knees knocking
over. [ was -- now I love to speak.

Q: Was this your first speech?

MARTINDELL: It was my first speech, in 1960.

Q: That’s terrific. Do you want to tell me a little more about what you did with this
Neuro-Psychiatric Institute?

MARTINDELL: Well, we raised money and organized volunteers to go and work with
the patients. There are many, many patients -- it is absolutely a crime what they did right
after that. You know, they turned them all out on the streets.

Q: I know they did.

MARTINDELL: I think it happened just before I got in the Senate, but I fought behind
the scenes, that whole thing. It was just not a good idea. And that’s what the homeless,
most of them, are, I think.

Q: Now, you went into teaching after this?

MARTINDELL: And then, I think I just finished it, running that organization, when this
teaching thing came up.

Q: You ran the organization but you did not actually, yourself, one-on-one, work with the
people?

MARTINDELL: No. A lot of them did, but I didn’t.

Q: Well, you probably felt your abilities were better used in organizing.
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MARTINDELL: I'm a good organizer.

Q: Yes, I'm sure you are. You began teaching.
MARTINDELL: I began teaching; I did that for four years.
Q: And enjoyed it?

MARTINDELL: Yes, I loved it. I started out with four-year-olds, and they’re perfect,
because they can only hug you around your knees. (Laughter) And everything you say,
you’re like God. And they never argue. They start getting five, six, seven, and they talk
back. But they’re adorable, four, and then I went on and supervised the five- and six-
year-olds.

Q: And within four years you were teaching people how to teach it?
MARTINDELL: Yes.
Q: Good heavens, that was progress, wasn't it? I suppose you read a lot at the time?

MARTINDELL: Well, I read a lot. I went over to England and Scotland and saw the
schools in operation, and how they did it and copied quite a few of the things they did.

Q: So that person who picked you was really quite right.

MARTINDELL: Well, she did me a big favor, because from then on I never hesitated.
And then, a school that I was on the board of, where Roger had been later, it’s a
marvelous -- listen, if you talk to the State Department people, talk it up. Because for
people who are overseas in dangerous places, they take children from nine to 14, and it’s
a marvelous school. And they have a farm attached and they have units where they --
Roger -- in the first place, Mary Mason at the school, thought that Roger’s father was
very hard on him, and she was right. I resisted, but she said, “You’ve got to get him
away. He’s too dominated.” And so, here it was, eight children in a house with two
house-parents, and it’s a perfect situation. In fact, now they have three for each age. One
of them is an apprentice, usually, or a young teacher.

Q: What’s the name of the school?

MARTINDELL: North Country School in Lake Placid. It’s a marvelous school. And I
was on the board. And so then they asked me to raise money for them. They wanted to
build some more houses. And, thanks to the fact that I found a fundraiser who did it for
practically nothing, I think because he liked me. He was the master fundraiser and he
taught me a lot, and boy, was that useful in politics.

Q: Where did you meet him again?

27



MARTINDELL: I researched and found this firm that was very good at raising money,
one of those people who do that, and the man who was head of it took a liking to me, so
he spent hours telling me exactly the formula. And he said [ was the only person that ever
did exactly what he’d tell me to do. And I raised twice what they were aiming for. Well, a
lot of that was, good people liked the school. I can’t take much credit for it. I did listen
because I didn’t know anything. And I did follow him exactly, to the letter, everything he
told me. Didn’t try to second-guess him.

Q: Were you at all interested in women’s issues at this time?

MARTINDELL: No, not really. That didn’t come until I got into politics, but it was that I
was unaware, because then I got very involved in politics. Well, it was Gene McCarthy --
my brother, the youngest one -- was his campaign manager. My brother and this younger
son who’s interested in politics and I have the same feeling about politics. They’re
strategically minded, which I am not; I’'m people-oriented. And they do the strategy. And
so he was a marvelous campaign manager. Larry O’Brien told me he was the toughest
person he’d ever been up against, in any campaign.

Q: Really? This is your number-

MARTINDELL: This is my youngest, the polio brother. And so because of him, he was
against the Vietnam war, which I was, too. I thought it was the wrong war in the wrong
place at the wrong time.

Q: How soon did you think this?

MARTINDELL: Not very early. Blair was there earlier than I was. In fact, Helen
Meyner, who is a friend, was there, too, and I was a little uneasy about it. But then, as
Blair got deeper into it, and I went to that ‘68 convention -- not as a delegate, [ made a
great mistake: took Roger there. His father said not to take him, and I thought, oh, well,
you know, it’s a good experience for a young person. It was awful.

Q: Is that the one in Chicago? It must have been a traumatic experience.

MARTINDELL: It was awful! We came as close to a revolution in those days as I think
we’ll ever get -- [ hope. I mean the -- Roger, who was a page to the McCarthy delegation,
which was small, from New Jersey, and so there wasn’t much to do, was out on the street
with a friend, just watching, when these, mostly these students, I guess, were waiting for
a permit. They were sitting on the street waiting for a permit to just go to the convention
and present their petitions. Because Daley went absolutely berserk. And the police,
without any warning -- they had people-mashers. They had tanks with barbed wire and
jeeps with --

Q: Tanks?

MARTINDELL: Yes, on the streets. And they started to move them, and the police ran at
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the crowd with tear gas, without any warning at all. And Roger was standing there, off at
the side watching, and sensibly ran like hell. And he’s a good athlete, and he got away
from them, but he did get very badly tear-gassed. And hours later, I got tickets -- the only
time I was able to go -- I got tickets to the gallery, and they announced on the floor that
children were being killed on the streets. They weren’t being killed, but they were being
badly hurt, and a lot of them were arrested. I was terrified.

Q: Of course you were!

MARTINDELL: And I went to look for my brother, and it was the first time I had ever
seen Ken Galbraith and I didn’t really know him; I just said, “How do you do?”” And I
said, “I’ve got to find my brother. My son’s out there being killed.” His huge hand took
my arm and we went to find him, and then I left the convention. I was too upset, you
know, trying to find out. I went back to McCarthy headquarters to see what happened. It
took them six hours to get through the police line to get back.

Q: Now this, of course, was the fall of the same year that Martin Luther King was killed,
and Bobby Kennedy was killed, so the whole nation seemed to be in --

MARTINDELL: A crisis of violence.

Q: What was Daley’s problem there? Why was he doing this? Because he was afraid
things would get out of hand?

MARTINDELL:: I think he regarded all of us as subversives, if not Communists.

Q: Oh, I see, I see.

MARTINDELL: And dangerous. He thought, we were dangerous. And got his police -- |
remember two little policemen terrified in the middle of a crowd of young people who
weren’t doing anything, and, you know, flailing out with their nightsticks. They were
back-to-back, thinking they were going to be killed and attacked. It was a very bad time.
Q. Humphrey got the nomination and, of course, lost.

MARTINDELL:: Yes.

Q: Did that sort of set up things for McCarthy the next time around?

MARTINDELL: No, he never really figured after that; McGovern got it the next time. He
is a more moderate version of McCarthy.

Q: McCarthy had won in the New Hampshire primary, as I recall.

MARTINDELL: That’s right. So, because of that, I got into politics. Helen Meyner was a
friend, as I said, and I made her go out on the streets with me because they didn’t know
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what was going on, they didn’t know what the police were doing. She was there. Her
husband was the head of the delegation -- well, not head, he was part of it; he had been
Governor. Anyway, he was running again. He was furious with her because she wrote a
column for the New Jersey papers, describing it. He said it was not going to help his
campaign. We were regarded as dangerous radicals.

Q: I think a lot of people thought McCarthy was.

MARTINDELL: He was just against the establishment, against what the establishment
was doing.

Q: Yes, that was terrible. By this time, you were opposed to the war?

MARTINDELL: Yes. Well, I -- as [ remember, coming back, I said to the newspapers,
“They did radicalize me at that convention.” I was very upset. And they, then
immediately wrote me off and they wouldn’t speak to me at cocktail parties and things
like that: I was a Communist.

Q: Who wrote you off?

MARTINDELL: John O’Hara, the novelist, an old friend. And another husband of an old
friend of mine, they just regarded me as a Communist from then on. Anyway, Bob
Meyner was running again for Governor. This was his third, after he took an interval, and
Helen talked him into making me the vice-chairman of the party. I had never had
anything to do with real politics up to that point. I was to soften up the liberals and have
them support him; that was the idea.

Q: To support?

MARTINDELL: Meyner, who was running for Governor. He lost. He didn’t do badly,
but he lost. Therefore, I had a four-year job.

Q: That’s a four-year job? How do you get into a job like that?

MARTINDELL: You get appointed. A lot of people thought it was crazy of him to do it,
because I had not worked up through the ranks. I had no idea how parties ran, and what’s
more, I took the job seriously. Nobody ever had before. I went over -- I had only been to
Trenton (before) to take the train, and then for eight years [ went every day.

Q: Is that right?

MARTINDELL: Yes. So I did that for four years, and I don’t know if it’s in the clips that
you have, but what really got me elected -- and I only registered as a candidate the last 24
hours -- they didn’t have anybody to oppose the incumbent popular Republican -- what
really got me elected was the fact that as vice-chairman I did take it seriously, and then I
became a feminist -- you asked me about that -- because I couldn’t believe the way the
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men treated the women in the party.
Q: Ah, good. That’s what I want to hear about.

MARTINDELL: I couldn’t believe it. I used to make speeches called “Women are
People.” I mean, they were only asked to lick the stamps and do the chores and answer
the telephone, and never had any say in policy at all. I couldn’t believe it.

Q: Well, did they expect you to lick stamps?

MARTINDELL: Yes. They expected me to, you know, preside at functions and smile
sweetly and take orders. And these, you see, these men in New Jersey, the Democrats,
were pretty largely sort of ethnic types. My boss was an Italian. He was a nice guy but he
was terribly old-fashioned. Women had their place, and it certainly wasn’t in the
councils, or asked to do anything important. So this went on for a bit. I did the things they
asked me to do, and more. But I didn’t strike out until finally my brother told me to study
the McGovern reform rules. So I did. He said it was important; they would come in
handy. And I heard, roundabout, that they were having -- you didn’t see this story?

Q: No. Your first clip is 1973, that I have, I mean.

MARTINDELL: That was earlier, probably ‘71. Yes, it was ‘71. You should, if you want
to, get from New Jersey -- in fact, [ have some. God knows where I’ve got them, though.
Probably in my downstairs file. I’ll look them up today, give them to you tomorrow.

Q: Oh, that would be great.

MARTINDELL: Anyway, I heard they were having this meeting on the McGovern rules
and I was naive enough to think that they were really seriously discussing it. It didn’t
occur to me they weren’t. In retrospect, what they were doing is how to get around them.
So I rang up my boss and said, “I hear you’re having a meeting on McGovern rules. I’'m
very interested. I’ve studied them. May I come?”” And he said, “Certainly not; the boys
don’t want any women there.” That made me just furious. So I thought about it and
consulted a couple of friends.

And I got into my car -- it was in Trenton -- and they were having it in upstate New
Jersey, about an hour’s drive. And I drove up and I went through my move: what am |
going to say when I get there? I wouldn’t have been courageous enough to just go if |
hadn’t been so angry. And I got there. He owns a golf club and you go through a gate
business, so I was announced -- I can practically hear him yelling over the phone. I got to
his house and I went in with a then-Senator. I said, “I’m going to need some protection. I
can hear him yelling, ‘She has no idea of party discipline.” I got there. Two -- no, only
one United States Senator, two ex-Governors and the six big county chairmen. And the
oldest and most charming, Toni Grossi, who I think was the one who had the most
objections to my coming, opened up. They all glared at me and then he said, “Well,
Anne, you know, we all like you, but there are times when we boys want to get together

31



and we like to use any kind of language we want and we don’t want to offend a lady like
you.” I said, “I don’t give a shit what kind of language you use.”

Q: Good for you! (Laughter)

MARTINDELL: And that is what was going through my mind: what am I going to say?
He gave me the perfect opening. (Laughter)

Q: I'll bet they were shocked.

MARTINDELL: There was a long silence and then Bob Meyner, my friend, said, “Anne,
shut up and sit down.” Now, the McGovern rules, reform rules, this was to reform -- The
Democratic Party.

Q: Before the convention.

MARTINDELL: Yes. Before the ‘72 convention.

Q: And they had no intention of abiding by it?

MARTINDELL: Well, I figured this out afterward. I'm sure that was what it was about,
and that’s why they didn’t want it, but I took it at face value that they were going to get

morc women.

Q: So your reaction to all of this was anger and a determination to get in there and
change things?

MARTINDELL: Yes, as much as --

Q: As much as is possible for anybody to do it. And yet, in New Jersey there certainly had
been role models of women in office?

MARTINDELL: Not many.
Q: I was thinking of Millicent Fenwick.

MARTINDELL: Well, Millicent and I are contemporaries. I think she’s older than I, but
we went into politics about the same time.

Q: Did you? What about Katherine White?
MARTINDELL: Yes, she had been vice-chairman before.
Q: So really, not a lot of women?

MARTINDELL: There were a couple of state senators. One was there when I was there
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and she still is there -- Wynona Lipman, black, in Newark. There were one or two --
Mildred Hughes -- but not many. It was when Wynona, who was elected two years before
me, got there, they had not even had a ladies’ room for the women senators.

Q: Really? So you were what number Senator?

MARTINDELL: I was the, the -- well, there were three of us elected that year, so I guess
I was about the fifth woman State Senator. There have been seven to date.

Q: Only seven to date?

MARTINDELL: Yes.

Q: You haven’t made much progress since 1972, have you?

MARTINDELL: We haven’t. You know, we really haven’t. Women really have not.
And, of course, it’s regressing all the time now in the present Administration. I mean, not
just ambassadors, everywhere.

Q: I know, I know.

MARTINDELL.: I think it is easier for women to run for office now, and the money is
beginning to -- which is the key -- come more easily to them.

Q: Yes. At least they 've gotten their hands on the purse strings, as far as having money in
their rights and all that sort of thing.

MARTINDELL: Yes, but they don’t spend it; they still don’t spend it the way men do.
You ask anybody who’s raised money for campaigns. It’s easier than it was, but it’s not
easy.

Q: Do you suppose that’s because there is a repugnance?

MARTINDELL: Yes, I think they think politics is dirty.

Q: That’s very interesting.

MARTINDELL: That’s part of it. Part of it is a habit, I think. You either give to
campaigns or you don’t, and not many women have. And, I don’t know how younger
women spend their money. More. Better. I think that women who are earning their
money and earning good salaries, they still don’t spend it.

Q: They don’t contribute, hmm?

MARTINDELL: They don’t contribute. I think that could be checked. I was briefly on
the Women’s Campaign Fund Committee and I still know people involved in it. I'm
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partisan enough that I don’t want to do that again, because they give to, and should, to
both Republicans and Democrats. I want to get Democratic women in, and Democratic
people in, so I don’t, I don’t -- but I think they’re saying they’re doing better than they
used to.

Q: I wonder if the Republican women do better?
MARTINDELL: Well, yes, they probably do, they probably do.
Q: Maybe this is a Democratic thing. I mean, Democratic in the sense of the party.

MARTINDELL: And yet the Democrats are, some of them, more liberal in their giving. |
don’t know.

Q: They are, but they are not the money party.
MARTINDELL: They’re not. No, no, no. Money exists in the Republican Party.

Q: And the majority of your Democrats are people who have earned their own money
coming up.

MARTINDELL: I'm going to check that, though. I’'m going to see how the Women’s
Campaign Fund does with Republican women.

Q: That would be fascinating. Well, now, we re up to your really plunging in.

MARTINDELL: Yes, and then they came to me, you know, about 48 hours before filing
day, and said, “We haven’t got anybody to run against this fellow. Would you be willing
to do it?” They said, “You’ll never make it, but you might find it an interesting
experience, which is the way I looked at it: I thought I might run for Congress later on.
And then I won. Well, very narrowly, but I won.

Q: No, but you won. In that year it certainly was not a --

MARTINDELL: Seventy-three, this was. [ was doing well. I loved campaigning. I adored
it. I went from door to door. It was a big district, so I couldn’t go everywhere door to
door, but wherever I could, I did. It was fun. I’d say, “I’m Anne Martindell. I’'m running
for the State Senate. I’d like to talk to you about it.” And they were usually very excited.

Q: Did you have little coffee parties and that sort of thing?

MARTINDELL: Yes, we had all the standard things. Gloria Steinem was very helpful to
me. She came out to Princeton, and my opponent had voted against the ERA; well, he
had abstained, which is the same as voting against it. She made a big thing of it, Gloria
did. That was very helpful. Then when the Cox firing [Archibald Cox -- Former
Watergate special prosecutor, fired by President Nixon over the issue of releasing the
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Watergate tapes] occurred, I could feel the difference as I walked the streets. Yes, that
really pushed me over the top.

Q: And then Elliot Richardson resigned.

MARTINDELL: Yes, all that. Nixon helped me a lot. So it was in that time that [ became
directly involved in politics. I became aware. I had really led a fairly sheltered life and I
had not realized what a tough time women on the whole were having. And that’s when I
became aware of it.

Q: I see. It was while you were campaigning that you became aware.

MARTINDELL: Also, before that, when I was Vice-Chairman. And I saw how badly
treated the women that worked so faithfully for the party were and then I started, you
know, going around meeting ordinary people, working women. I saw blue-collar types. I
had never really had much contact with them.

Q: No, of course not, of course not. So you became a Senator, and that’s a four-year
term?

MARTINDELL: Yes.
Q: Yes. You must have shocked your people when you won.

MARTINDELL: I shocked myself. When they told me election night that I was winning,
I said, I don’t believe it.

Q. Now, what were your main goals when you became a Senator? What were your
priorities?

MARTINDELL: I wanted to do something about education. I ended up chairing the
Education Committee of the Senate.

Q: In the 1972 campaign, when McGovern won --

MARTINDELL: Oh, yes, I was very active in that. In fact, I was Deputy Campaign
Chairman at the end. I was the first woman, I think, to be a Deputy Campaign Chairman.
I didn’t do very much. It was all so awful those last couple of months. But [ won New
Jersey for McGovern. And I’ll tell you the way I did it. I got a meeting together -- [ don’t
know how I got the word around, through various women’s organizations -- that if you
want to be a delegate, come to a delegate school, learn how to be a delegate. And I ran
the school. And so, through that I got in touch with women’s organizations. They got
interested. And then we had mini-conventions, which we still do, county by county. And
women turned out in droves, they wanted to be delegates. Up to that point women had
been chosen really by the Governor and just designated to go, and then they did what
they were told. These women, for the first time, I think -- oh, I’m sure -- they’d never run
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on their own as a delegate. And so they turned out, and therefore, they were all for
McGovern.

Q: Sure, sure, sure. Well, yes, you had to have a reason for going to all that trouble, I'm
sure.

MARTINDELL: Well, they got excited at the idea of becoming a delegate. We took the
state, and so then I became more and more involved. I got to know Gary Hart very well
that way, you see, because he was the Campaign Manager for McGovern.

Q: What you 're saying then is that women who went out would be for McGovern because
he was the principal person for women'’s rights, is that correct?

MARTINDELL: Well, I think so. But also he was good on things that were important to
women.

Q: Especially that war.

MARTINDELL: Especially the war. Did you know, I had a young friend who did a very
good political newsletter. I don’t think he’s very well; he seems to have stopped his
newsletter. But he was writing a book on women’s attitudes. He went back and studied
what attitudes women had had historically, and he went back to the earliest possible polls,
which were much earlier than I thought they were, and it shows consistently that women
were for peace. It was high on the agenda with every woman. And to prove that, in 1916,
women did not have the vote, and Wilson was elected, and I think they would have voted
for him because he said, “I will not go to war.” And then he did go to war. So they were
voting in 1920 and they voted massively against him. They voted for the Republicans.
And that was why. That was one of the ways he was proving -- and the other thing he
said was typical of women, and this explains one thing I did, without knowing it was the
reason, was that women tend to want to alter behavior. The WCTU is one example, and I
headed the campaign against casino gambling here for similar reasons.

Q: I know you did.

MARTINDELL: And won the first time out, but I didn’t realize that that was a typical
woman thing to do, because they would argue with me. A lot of men would --
Democratic men saying, “Oh, you, you know, let them do it. If that’s what they want to
do, let them do it. Why should you stop them from doing it even if it’s bad for them?” I
said, “Because it’s bad for them.”

Q: Well, women are the nurturers.

MARTINDELL: Yes, that’s right.

Q: It’s up to them to raise the next generation.
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MARTINDELL: Roger, my son, was working for me at that point and he really learned
politics then. He’s very good. He did publicity for the campaign.

Q: Well, I was reading that about the casino gambling, and I thought to myself, I wonder
how you feel now, with all of the efforts that have --

MARTINDELL: Oh, it’s terrible. I just wrote a letter yesterday.

Q: It is just as bad as you said it was going to be.

MARTINDELL: It’s everything I said was going to happen has happened.
Q: Didn’’t take that long, did it?

MARTINDELL: No. I didn’t think it would happen that fast, but it did. And the Council
of Churches put up my name to be on some Commission of the Legislature to supervise
casinos. And I said, “All right, put it in.” I knew they were never going to appoint me.
But I finally wrote the Speaker of the House and said I’d really had it -- it’s hopeless.
Why be the one voice knocking my head against -- and if I go along with them, then
that’s on my record, so I finally decided not to do it.

Q: Sure, sure.

MARTINDELL: I don’t think they’d have appointed me anyhow, but I said take my
name off the list.

Q: Yes.

MARTINDELL: Oh, it’s so bad, and it’s corrupt. My last vote in the Senate, which was
in May of ‘77, was on the Casino Gambling Bill. I could tell then who was already in the
pay of the gambling interests. You know, they don’t necessarily give them cash, although
they may do that, too, but they give them jobs as lawyers, accountants, and so forth.

Q: Did you -- were you basing it on what had happened to Las Vegas?

MARTINDELL: Yes, I did some research. My instinct told me that it was bad. My
husband loved to gamble. He’s not a compulsive gambler, which was what the Governor
thought he had become. I never understood that. And he put around, or one of his people
put around, the rumor that my husband was a compulsive gambler. He wasn’t any such
thing. He gambled only what he could afford to lose. He always said he never lost.
Obviously, he did, sometimes.

Q: But you see what a cheap thing that is to do? They wouldn’t have said that about some
man, that his wife was a compulsive gambler, would they?

MARTINDELL: No, of course not. If she had been they would have supposed it not to
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have any effect on him. Anyway, my brother was very angry with them for doing that.
Q: Well, we were talking about education and you wanted to do something.

MARTINDELL: Oh, yes. I wanted to improve life for people in New Jersey, but I was
particularly concerned about women. I had a number of women’s bills that you probably
have listed.

Q: Indeed.

MARTINDELL: I remember battered women. And then I was on the Nursing Home
Commission and that was to do with older women. I tried to be their advocate wherever 1
could.

Q: Well, you seemed to be very, very active for Carter.

MARTINDELL: In the Carter campaign there was something about discrimination
against women by insurance companies. I really didn’t know anything about insurance,
but I knew how to find out, so I did. We had a good Insurance Commissioner here, a
man, but he was good. And we collected the people who knew, and then we asked for --
because this is a big insurance state, like Connecticut -- we asked the heads of the
insurance companies in New Jersey to send a representative to a meeting. I don’t think
that the heads came, but they sent pretty high executives. We had a meeting in a
boardroom in Newark, that somebody lent us. The men sat down there, and my group,
which was some men, but mostly women, sat down here. There was one very good
woman from Pennsylvania and another good woman from North Carolina and a few
other experts. And it was two different worlds. Here we would all raise our points, like,
okay, we grant you that you do give women a break on life insurance, but that’s to your
advantage. But why do you charge women more on burglary insurance if they’re
divorced? Burglary and theft. Do you know what their answer was? “Because single
women, divorced women particularly, entertain men in their homes, and that’s
dangerous.” “Now, did you mean men don’t entertain women?” “Oh, but it’s completely
different.” What’s different about it? They were men, clearly, whose wives never held a
job.

Q: We were speaking thi